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… I’ve begged God for forgiveness, but I won’t know till the day I die if He has truly forgiven me …


I’ve paid my dues to society by serving my long sentence, but perhaps I haven’t earned His indulgence …


Oh my God, I’ve lived so many different lives!


I survived Pablo Escobar Gaviria, El Patrón (The Boss), and it was the strength of his indomitable spirit that kept me going all these years; I don’t quite know how or why. I still feel his presence every day of my existence. The Medellin cartel’s crimes weigh as heavily on my shoulders today as they did yesterday. My youth, wasted in crime, became the sword that now hangs over my graying head.


To the world, I’ll always be known by my alias, Popeye, the fearsome hitman of the Medellin cartel, Pablo Escobar Gaviria’s right-hand man … How can I make you understand I’m a new man … that twenty-three years behind bars in that hellhole have transformed the person I once was.


Now the freedom I yearned for is vanishing in the murderous hands of my enemies. Perhaps fate has extended my life only to toy with me by preparing my own dying moments.


I survived in captivity but I don’t know if I’ll be able to live in freedom … A prisoner of my own mind, I’ll try to fight to find some peace …


It’s very cold … now it’s August 2014. I’m one step from freedom and I’m still breathing … still here in this dimly lit cell in the maximum security prison in Cómbita, Boyacá.















[image: FIGURA 1]

Popeye in his cell in Cómbita Prison. Sebastián Jaramillo, Revista Bocas ed. 16, 2011.

















I

Leaving Pablo Escobar


July 1992


“Hey guys … best o’ luck. Maybe, if I decide to join you, we’ll see each other again in the slammer … ”


His adrenaline spiked as his surrender neared, as did the fear of the cold and impenetrable look that the almighty Pablo Escobar Gaviria, ”El Patrón” (The Boss), still gave him. A shiver ran through him. A soft breeze danced through the room where these three men were saying farewell in their own way, each playing out his own hand, his own destiny. Maybe what was hanging in the air was no more than cowardice disguised as wisdom.


“Goodbye Patrón … ”


Popeye was so close to Pablo Escobar he could feel his breath. The penetrating look of that enigmatic man seemed to challenge him at that final moment, throwing his mind into such confusion he felt his throat go dry. Clumsily, he reached out to shake the hand of the man who inspired so much respect and admiration, for one last time.


It was the end of a crazy and tumultuous career in the world of organized crime. At the age of twenty-seven, Jhon Jairo Velásquez, also known as Popeye, had a long string of murders weighing on his conscience. Now, however, he was about to turn his life around, inspired by the love of a woman.


As he rode off, the events of the preceding days kept playing over and over again in his mind … 


“Murderers fall in love too … ,” that was the phrase he had uttered to his partner Otto when Pablo Escobar noticed a change in him.


“What’s eating you, Pope? If you’re scared, surrender along with my brother Roberto and Otto at Itagüí Prison!” he counseled him seriously, looking him straight in the eye. It took him by surprise, but it also disturbed him.


“Patrón, you know we have the Americans, the English, and the Israelis on our tails. With this device they’ll find us right away!” Popeye responded respectfully, shirking the question he had really been asked as he put the long distance communication device that had arrived by mail on the table before him. Back in 1992, cell phones were still uncommon in Colombia.


“Man, you’ve got it bad! Just go to the pen. Then you can see your beautiful lady friend any time,” he replied with a slow smile.


“Let me think about it and I’ll let you know, sir … ,” he responded, bowing his head and returning to his room in the upper-middle-class home on the low-lying fringes of Medellin’s El Poblado neighborhood where they were hiding out in those days, laying low, trying to elude the Search Bloc and their other enemies. It was hard to know which posed more of a threat: the Search Bloc, a special operations unit of the Colombian National Police created expressly to hunt down Pablo Escober and other members of the Medellín cartel, or his other enemies, the other cut-throat cartels.


Embroiled in a war against the State, they were on the losing end. The result: a domino effect spread among the members of the Medellin cartel. In a bid to come out of it alive, one by one they were turning themselves in to the authorities to avoid falling into the blood-stained hands of Los Pepes who had murdered most of Pablo Escobar’s hitmen. The Pepes, as the people supposedly “persecuted by Pablo Escobar” were known, were a paramilitary group formed in the 1990s by drug traffickers, Pablo’s former allies, who claimed they wouldn’t be safe until he was dead. That’s how Popeye knew this was one of the biggest decisions in his life. On the one hand, he felt compelled to stay by Escobar’s side, faithful to the very end, as he had always been, but he was madly in love with Ángela Morales, his girlfriend at that time, and he feared for her safety. They’d been tipped off that the Pepes were planning to murder their women in retaliation for the death of so many police officers and the cartel’s terrorist acts. Once in prison, interest in Popeye and his family and friends would hopefully fade. There, it would be easier for him to shield himself from the danger of his powerful enemies who had cornered the Medellin cartel. It was the only way he could save himself and his woman.


He brushed it from his mind and the next morning went to El Patrón’s room. The door was slightly ajar. He peeked inside and approached without a sound. He saw El Patrón, but remained silent. Popeye’s stomach was a knot. He felt too weak to even open his mouth and shrank back. After a few moments he screwed up his courage, walked back over, and, haltingly he spluttered … 


“Uh, I’ve uh made up my mind, … sir … ”


“What did you decide?” Pablo asked, not once raising eyes from the TV screen, the remote control poised in his right hand.


“I’m leaving, Patrón … ” he answered almost in a whisper, staring at him without shifting his gaze.


“I knew it!” replied Pablo, not missing a beat, a knowing smile spread across his face. His eyes remained glued to the news broadcast.


As night fell, El Patrón called Popeye back to his room and asked him again:


“Cupid! … Have you made up your mind? Get Otto. I want both of you in here.”


Ten days later they were leaving, letting El Patrón fend for himself, like a couple of Judases abandoning him to his fate as both of them were chasing after women who’d been messing with their hearts and their minds. They were both convinced they could turn over a new leaf, start fresh, a life far from crime and the world they knew. Otto was equally tired of the war and wanted to be with his woman.


“Adiós, Patrón … ”


“Adiós … ”


Popeye tried to look him in the eye but Pablo’s inquisitive gaze defeated him. He lowered his eyes, his heart filled with shame. Taking a step closer to him, he offered Pablo his hand. A dignified hug and a “thank you for everything” were the last things he got from his boss.


In pained silence, Popeye walked beside Otto to the street. They were almost dragging their feet as they left the house, never to return. Moisture blurred his vision. He didn’t need to do any explaining to his partner; who shared Popeye’s confused jumble of emotions. When they got some 650 feet away, they stopped and looked back. The last thing they saw was a man, completely alone, climbing into a humble outdated red Renault. The small car sped off in the opposite direction, driven by the legendary man who had changed the lives and the fates of both men: Pablo Escobar Gaviria, El Patrón.
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Pablo Escobar and Jhon Jairo Velásquez Vásquez, alias Popeye, detained in La Catedral Prison.


















II

A New Life


Around 4:30 a.m., the prison cell door swung open and a man pointed his gun at Popeye. Only mildly startled, Pope tossed off the covers and showed his hands to the guard, who threw handcuffs on him while barking over the radio:


“Objective number one secured!”


The guard searched Popeye thoroughly, looking for a concealed weapon. Then he removed the handcuffs and told him to get dressed. When Popeye finished, the guard cuffed him again.


Over the radio, the voices of other guards taking part in the operation could be heard as they called in from other wards in Bogota’s La Picota Prison.


“Objective number two secured!” snapped a voice over the radio.


“It must be Gerardo,” thought Popeye.


“Objective number three secured!” Juan Joyita … 


“Objective number four secured!” El Maestro … 


The entire zone was completely militarized. Heavily-armed soldiers took up positions on both sides of the road between the prison and the main avenue. The situation was dire. So much for Gerardo’s almost-ready escape plan.


They were herded onto a bus transporting other prisoners from Ward 3, all of them extraditables: prisoners who could be extradited for their crimes, maybe to the United States. Fear gripped the passengers in its icy iron fist.


Popeye remained calm. They didn’t have any reason to extradite him. He decided to relax at the expense of the guards by taunting them with crude jokes, “Hey marica, you queer,” he jeered and broke into laughter.


“Sucker, I’ll buy your gun!” called out another prisoner trying to diffuse the tension in the air.


The guards didn’t respond. They were utterly disciplined, professional, and didn’t let these thugs rile them.


Juan Joyita, as always, was the wisecracking prankster. For him everything was a joke. He was happy go lucky about life. Gerardo, on the other hand, was completely earnest. El Maestro, The Master, reminded everyone of his own prophetic words: “I told you all that I already knew we were going to be moved.” When they saw Popeye sitting there beside them, they came to the conclusion that nothing could save them from the journey to hell. Popeye scared them even more, given his reputation, so he could laugh a little bit at their fear to alleviate his own in the process.


“Gentlemen, you’re coming with me to Valledupar!”


Suddenly all the inmates grew serious. Juan Joyita was so petrified he stopping laughing and cracking jokes. Everyone in the bus went silent until the rest of the guards appeared and loudly announced, “The bus is loaded … let’s get a move on!”


The prisoners suspected they were being transferred to Colombia’s most feared prison in the early 2000s. To spook his colleagues even more, Popeye confirmed this suspicion with a sordid smile …“Gentlemen, I told you, prepare yourselves for hell!”


A graveyard hush fell over the bus. The inmates went mute. But deep down, although he hid it well, Popeye was the most worried of all.


The vehicle began to move forward with a clatter and a jerk. Inside there were commandos from the Rapid Reaction Group (GRI for its acronym in Spanish) trained by the Americans for special prison operations. The commandos, their guns pointed at the floor and with steely looks on their faces, stared coldly and fearlessly at the prisoners, prepared to do whatever was necessary. Unarmed, the tables turned, the thugs didn’t intimidate them the way they used to.


In the distance, Popeye saw the helicopter and relaxed, thinking, “No … they’re not gonna extradite us, for sure we’re going to the new prison in Cómbita, in Boyacá!” He smiled when he saw the fear and uncertainty in the faces of his comrades.


The heavily-guarded caravan lumbered out to the main road. The military cordon grew to support the guards. The vehicle advanced and suddenly swerved toward the army base next to the prison, quickly passing into the military complex. The GRI commandos rapidly grabbed the inmates, almost dragging them off the bus, and removed their handcuffs and chains. The prisoners were then handcuffed again, this time with plastic straps around their hands, and were tied together by painful chains latched onto the right ankle of one prisoner and the left ankle of the next. The prisoners were ordered to stay still and remain silent.


Off in the distance, they began to hear the hoarse blades of a fleet of old, slow, Russian-made helicopters approaching. The sound grew louder and louder until it was deafening and the helicopters hovered oppressively over them, the prisoners too stunned to respond. As they landed, the giant helicopters lifted dust off the ground. Their huge bellies quickly opened up, revealing frightened prisoners being transferred from other prisons crammed into their interiors. Soon other extraditables arrived by road. One of them was Jamioy, from Juan Joyita’s gang.


The list was complete when an older man in his seventies named Germán Arciniegas arrived. No one understood why he was being transferred to a high security prison when his crime didn’t justify it.


Popeye was put on the first flight along with Gerardo and his men. The helicopter had room for twenty people and also had army personnel on board. A soldier ordered the prisoners to stay still. The helicopter lifted off slowly and unsteadily. The noise droned on until it reached a higher altitude and picked up speed as it moved in the direction of its destination: the convicts’ new home.


Fifty minutes later they were flying over the feared Cómbita Prison. From above you could see an enormous mass of gray cement surrounded by barbed wire fences and watchtowers. It looked like a modern-day concentration camp. They landed on the prison’s helipad. One by one, the prisoners were lowered from the chopper with difficulty and were quickly taken to a blue bus. There, each one looked up, catching one last glimpse of freedom as they gazed up at the beautiful cloudless sky. Only minutes later, the monster that was Cómbita Prison swallowed them up.


The prison was right next to the paved road, a two-and-a-half-hour drive from the capital and twenty-five minutes from Tunja, a medium-sized city in Boyacá.


As part of the first group, they were put in a small prison pen about four-hundred thirty square feet surrounded by a steel wire fence. This was the review area. Once inside, their shackles were removed, giving the prisoners some relief. Popeye sat down on the ground.


A few minutes later, the director of Valledupar Prison, Pedro Germán Aranguren, appeared. “Oh no! What an unpleasant surprise … ” he thought when he saw the director standing there right in front of him, and with Popeye at such a disadvantage. Now, this man had been put in charge of Cómbita Prison. He was wearing his eternal U.S. Federal Bureau of Prisons shirt. He looked at Popeye with irony and Popeye responded with contempt. He didn’t say a word, neither did Jhon Jairo. Beside the director stood an American advisor, Jerry Benavides … Popeye was once again back in a tough prison regime. However, this time, he felt more prepared psychologically to face solitary confinement. He wanted to believe the cold wasn’t as terrible as people said. Hell on cold ground exists only in the minds of fear-stricken prisoners.


When everyone was ready for the reception and registration process, the captain of the guards, Orlando Toledo, entered, politely greeting the prisoners. An old fox in the Colombian prison world, strong, honest, and good with the prisoners.


Popeye was finally registered. His new ID was T.D. 007, T.D. referring to the card where his fingerprints were registered. In the Colombian prison system for all intents and purposes he was no longer Jhon Jairo Velásquez Vásquez, nor even Popeye … From now on, he became just a number in the penitentiary system. He was assigned the number seven, not in allusion to his stealth in the past, but simply as the seventh inmate to enter Cómbita. With this group, they inaugurated the high security prison, the opening of which had already been heralded in the press, generating high hopes of winning the war against drug cartels.


Summarily registered, his fingers still stained with ink, Popeye was passed on to a social worker. He was tempted to give her the silent treatment, but the woman was nice so he decided to cooperate, giving her the information she requested … “Could you please give me the phone number of someone we can contact in case of emergency or death?” the woman asked coolly.


“Excuse me, Doctor, is there a cemetery around here?” he asked her in all seriousness, as the woman’s eyes widened in bewilderment.


“Yes, of course, Mr. Velásquez!”


“Then please have them bury me there,” he answered firmly, to sidestep the need for any of the information she had requested. Her face betrayed her surprise, but she did not press him further. She quietly leaned forward to register the petition.


After this brief interview, Popeye was shunted off for a medical and dental exam. They handed him light brown uniform with orange stripes, too hideous to be seen anywhere else. Looking down at his feet, with resignation, he said to himself: “Goodbye sneakers, jeans, and t-shirts.” He stood there ready to take the souvenir snapshot with his new wardrobe.


His fellow inmates were herded off to the barber where the humming of electric razors left their hair littering the floor. His own was already buzz-cut. The director warned them they couldn’t have sneakers with shoelaces, a potentially lethal weapon of self-destruction in a bout of depression, setting off scattered laughter among the inmates. Given no other choice, they were outfitted with rubber-soled black shoes held in place by a Velcro strap, the epitome of fashion blending ugliness and discomfort.


The toiletries that some of the prisoners had managed to squirrel away with them were also confiscated. Lieutenant Claudia bellowed loudly, “You don’t need to bring anything in here. This place is funded by the United States. We’ll provide you with everything you need!”


More helicopters could be heard hovering over the penitentiary. The air was filled with expectation: the arrival of celebrities in the world of organized crime. Curiosity ran high. Rumors circulated that a big boss was coming, but nobody knew for sure which great capo might end up in a joint like this, along with the rest of them.


As crazy luck would have it, this time it fell to brothers Miguel and Gilberto Rodríguez Orejuela, heads of the Cali cartel. The U.S. Embassy found out about the luxuries the Rodríguez brothers had been enjoying in the other prisons where they’d been locked up. The government order was unequivocal: “The heads of the Cali cartel to Cómbita … ”


The arrival of these kingpins filled Popeye with new energy and joy. He wasn’t going to be the only one to suffer under the tough prison regime awaiting them. 


After the United States approved Plan Colombia in 2000, massive aid flooded Colombian institutions from the U.S. in the form of funding for logistics and personnel training to help the country crack down on drug trafficking and to strengthen the military. In the case of Colombia’s National Penitentiary and Prison Institute (INPEC) this support came from the U.S. Federal Bureau of Prisons. Gringo advisors trained the new guards and retrained the old ones. They made them pass a lie-detector test and upped their salaries. All the guards assigned to high security prisons approached the job with an anti-corruption mentality. This was the new INPEC.


New prisons were built following the recommendations of the U.S. Federal Bureau of Prisons, which closely monitored them. Penitentiaries had to meet the Bureau’s specifications and its strict regime, as if in the United States.


The dark and dank prison was inaugurated with the recent arrivals: the drug trafficking heavyweights who had just landed.


That same day Félix Antonio Chitiva, alias La Mica or The Monkey, and Víctor Patiño Fómeque also joined the new prisoners. Along with them came ten other narcos who had been living like kings in other prisons around the country where the new INPEC had not yet imposed its strict regulations and well-trained staff.


The guards ushered the Rodríguez brothers into the review cage. Jhon Jairo was already processed and ready to see what life had in store for him. They saw him and waved, masking their emotions with laughter. He responded in kind. Past bloodshed prevented them from reconciling their differences, but they had to coexist under the same roof. Clearly the Rodríguez brothers were not happy to see Popeye in Cómbita Prison, but they had no other choice.


September 13, 2002, was a historic day for the authorities. It marked the beginning of the end of the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers’ empire.


When he arrived, Don Gilberto was well-dressed: Italian slacks, leather shoes, a designer shirt, a fine watch with leather strap, and a belt that matched his footwear. The elegant Rodríguez brothers weren’t draped with jewelry that day. Don Miguel was attired more or less the same way. The transfer had caught them off guard and they were unprepared for Cómbita’s intense cold. Their relocation was tantamount to kicking the mob in the gut and adding insult to injury, Don Gilberto’s colored hair was sure to suffer, since Cómbita wasn’t equipped with a beauty salon.


List in hand, the guard swung open the gate of the cage and ordered:


“Rodríguez Orejuela Miguel Ángel and Rodríguez Orejuela Gilberto José, to be received and registered … the barber is ready … ”


The old men exchanged looks and turned pale, as the new reality sank in. Popeye, along with the other prisoners, watched their every move, waiting to see what concessions would be given to the famous pair.


“Are these guys really gonna get sheared and stripped of their fancy clothes? … ” murmured another prisoner under his breath, afraid the mobsters might hear him.


From a distance, Jerry, the American advisor from the Bureau of Prisons observed everything without interfering, just as Aranguren, the prison director, both waiting to see how the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers would react to being subjected to the barber. They were giving them their first taste of what the future held for them.


The guard passed each of them a full uniform and a plastic bag to stow his finery.


Miguel Rodríguez began to twist and squirm while removing his clothes in disgust. Gilberto humbly obeyed the request as he tried to soothe his brother. Clothes changed, they looked like real prisoners. In fact, they appeared small in the oversized uniforms. In this new light, the guards were more powerful than the two mobsters or for that matter than any of the fierce criminals admitted to the prison. When they got to the barber shop, Miguel refused to enter. Gilberto went right in, asking only that the barber use a number three blade. The guard didn’t respond and used the same number one blade he’d used on everybody else. The powerful gangster was left just as ugly as the rest of us. It made him look years older. Though only fifty-five, the new military-style crew-cut made him look like an old man.


The mafia boss stripped bare, deprived of his expensive clothes and his radiant hair. Clad, or rather floating, in a uniform two sizes too big, the powerful El Ajedrecista—his alias, The Chess Player, alluding to his cunning in the business—now looked like a mere pawn. Everyone watching shared the same feeling, even the guards standing in strategic points protected by riot shields and Robocop armor. The capos were observed carefully by the other prisoners as the scene played out: each prisoner was publicly subjected to the same treatment; nothing was in private. This time, however, the show was special because of the new stars.


When Gilberto was shorn, he looked up and his gaze met his brother’s. Miguel Rodríguez knew it was his turn. He approached the chair slowly, as if approaching an executioner, and asked the barber to cut his hair with scissors. Everyone laughed. So accustomed to obedience, Miguel still had the illusion the barber would do as he said. With ease, the guard passed the number one blade over Miguel’s arrogant head just as he had done to the other inmates. Miguel, watching his cherished hair hit the floor, angrily yelled in protest. Humiliation in the wake of arrogance was a tough way to begin his prison experience.


Miguel was assigned T.D. 0065 and Gilberto T.D. 0066. In his prison photo, Miguel was recorded for posterity with swollen cheeks and angry eyes. His stubby fingers, smeared with ink, trembled with rage as the process came to an end. Gilberto, however, took everything in stride. He knew he wasn’t going to get anywhere by protesting.


Jhon Jairo watched the spectacle attentively. Before that day it would have been a scene unimaginable for the Colombian mob: the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers and Popeye as pioneers of the new INPEC high security prisons in Colombia. He knew the others would all come later. Eventually, the ritual would play out the same for all, whether careless gangsters, overconfident paramilitary soldiers, or unrelenting guerrilla fighters.


“Gentleman, your watches, please,” a guard said to the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers in a serious tone.


Don Miguel responded aggressively, “What’s your damn problem?”


“Please, gentlemen, your watches … ” the guard repeated calmly. Don Gilberto removed his watch and handed it to the guard, cursing in the process.


Don Miguel followed suit, but complaining even louder. Later on, the other prisoners found out the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers had been wearing extremely expensive Cartier watches.


Suddenly the guards stood at attention and announced the show was over. They took Popeye to the Receptions area, putting him into the first cell. He sat down on the thin mattress and began to reflect on the situation with Director Aranguren. This time it wasn’t just him and guerilla fighter Yezid Arteta, like it had been in Valledupar, where the director delighted in making their lives miserable. Now, the director had a real treasure on which to vent his bitterness: the Cali cartel kingpins.


Miguel Rodríguez, in turn, was going to make life miserable for the guards and that would help break the system. Inaugurating a new prison is very difficult task, but they had a real fighting cock with them. The Cómbita adventure started out well enough. The first lunch was brought to them. It was decent, better than in Valledupar. Rice, lentils, fried chicken, and french fries. The meal was delivered in a little plastic box with compartments. With a little fruit-flavored water, “the prisoner was full.” The only thing the other prisoners were missing was seeing what the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers, accustomed to eating with silverware, said when the guards brought them their plastic utensils.


The last meal was served at 2:00 p.m. From then on the prisoners had to hold out until the next morning at 5:30 a.m. when breakfast was served. That’s fifteen hours without a bite to eat. No one understood why the meals were distributed that way, other than it was gringo prison style. Breakfast delivered at 5:30 a.m., lunch at 9:00 a.m., and dinner at 2:00 p.m.


Now tucked away in Cómbita Prison, Popeye began his “adaptation.” The cell turned out to be pretty nice compared to the others he’d seen. Having a toilet without human excrement floating inside it was already a luxury. The forty-three-square-foot room had a cement-slab base for the foam mattress, a sink with a place for washing clothes and a faucet, and the heavy metal door with a small barred window, all new and in perfect condition. There were no mosquitoes, flies, or little squeaking animals. It was a cold but healthy climate. 


Popeye’s relative contentment, however, came to an end the next day when the prisoners were transferred to the real cells in Ward 8. An endless row of doors, each housed a prisoner. Popeye wrapped himself in the blanket he’d received upon entering and explored the place. It had a small patio in the back. The small miserable room contained a cement slab for the mattress, a sink to wash clothes with a faucet, a stainless-steel toilet, and a novelty: a shower in the middle of the cell right next to the mattress. The very dim light was controlled from the outside and could not be switched on or off from inside the cell. Ten feet wide by twenty feet long, including the patio, it was in the end kind of comfortable. The door was completely solid except for a small glass pane window and a little door for passing meals to the prisoners. Nowhere did he see the ice that some inmates, in an effort to scare the others, blabbed about, claiming there were cells in Cómbita sixty-five feet underground. One of the guards announced the lights would be turned on at 5:00 a.m. and would be turned off at 8:00 p.m.


Among the inmates accompanying him was a seventy-eight-year-old doctor. He moved with difficulty. He had escaped from the United States, owing 700 thousand dollars in back taxes. He had owned a clinic there and the taxes had eaten him alive. The police arrested him in Bogota and the United States requested his extradition. The guards gave him the same treatment as the others, but his fellow inmates surrounded him and helped him with everything. Doctor Viejito, or Little Old Doc as the others fondly called him, was strong and never complained. No one could explain what this man was doing in prison with real outlaws. Yet another of life’s paradoxes … it seemed no one could be certain about his own destiny.


In Colombia most people don’t know what prisons are really like on the inside. They ignore what happens in the dark dungeons where torture techniques such as the brutal “scorpion” are used. In the early years of high security prisons in Colombia, the scorpion was suggested by the gringo advisors who used it on their own prisoners when they turned violent. The prisoner would be tied by the waist, feet, and hands with thick chains, rendering him completely immobile, his body contorted into the shape of a scorpion. When it came time to feed the prisoner, the guards would throw the plate of food to one side, forcing the prisoner to eat like a dog. The scorpion could last up to twenty-four hours. It was a means of demonstrating the unquestionable power of the system over the individual.


The first morning in the Cómbita cells is very unpleasant. At 5:00 in the morning, the showers are turned on by the guards. The gush of cold water falls right on the prisoner’s bed, soaking the mattress and blanket. It is virtually unavoidable.


That first day, Popeye, feeling the ice-cold water hitting his face, leapt up to try to protect the mattress and blanket. He quickly gathered his few belongings and the wet blanket. He tried to prevent the mattress from being soaked, dragging it over to the cell’s little patio, waiting till the shower was turned off. He directed the stream of water towards the wall. There wasn’t even a miserable little plastic curtain to stop the water from flooding the bed. He wasn’t the only one upset. He could hear the shouts and protests of his companions cursing this grim alarm clock.


At 5:30 a.m., breakfast arrived. It wasn’t bad. Coffee in hot water, a piece of bread the size of a fist, and a soft-boiled egg. Popeye devoured everything in short order. He was starving. He asked the inmates serving breakfast if the Rodríguez brothers had been moved to the cells. They told him they hadn’t been moved yet. They were still in the cells in the Receptions area. Popeye grew worried. Clearly the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers were getting better treatment than the others.


In nearby cells, Popeye’s fellow inmates were disgruntled, struggling to overcome the initial impact of what it meant to be in a high security prison. When lunch arrived, many of them threw it away. Popeye could hear them flushing the noisy toilets in their cells. He could hear some of them sobbing as well. They were weeping because they’d never been in a real prison before. He was worried about Doctor Viejito.


Hours later, more information leaked out about the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers. It was said they weren’t locked up in cells, but could wander out to the Receptions area courtyard to sunbathe, and they were allowed to meet with their lawyers.


All of a sudden, Popeye heard a commotion from the second floor cells. An inmate had tied a bed sheet around his neck and was threatening to hang himself if not taken out of his cell. The guards went in and yanked him out, shoving him towards the infirmary where the psychiatrist was stationed. They took him with his hands and feet chained. The guards were extremely aggressive, displaying exactly the same attitude as the guards in Valledupar. They were willing to exercise their authority over any prisoner.


Three days later, murmuring voices rippled in the hall. It was the INPEC director with Aranguren, the prison director, and Captain Toledo. When Popeye heard them, he pushed his head with all his might through the tight hole in the door and yelled to get the general’s attention.


“General, general, general!” Hearing the call, the general walked over towards the cell.


“Hey! Who are you?”


“Sir, I am Popeye. I want to ask you for a favor. Take my fellow inmates out of these cells. They can’t take this. And leave me here … ”


The chief answered kindly, “Tomorrow you’re all being moved to Ward 6. We’re preparing it now.” 


The general was about to turn around when Popeye spoke up again, knowing this was his only chance, “Mr. General, sir, please, give us an hour of sunlight!”


The man benevolently gave the captain the order to give the inmates an hour of sun. The prisoners were immediately taken to a small courtyard. Most of Popeye’s fellow prisoners were in very low spirits. Gerardo, Juan Joyita, and El Maestro were still strong, able to withstand the conditions. Perhaps the biggest surprise for Popeye was of the inmates there, the strongest of all was Doctor Viejito. “Popeye, this cell is great! It’s an amazing experience to tell my grandchildren about!”


Perplexed, the convicts stared at the old man. In their eyes there wasn’t anything to be cheerful about. It was prison. But this little old man seemed to be getting a kick out of it. “It’s an honor for me to be in the company of criminals like you!”


Everyone died laughing. Apparently the little old man had a strain of outlaw running through his veins as well. There he was, locked up for some reason, and finally at the ripe old age of seventy-eight did he feel the rush the underworld gives a man.


Popeye, accustomed to prisons and to rough fights, gave the other prisoners encouragement. He’d tell them to stay tough and to eat; reminding them their stay in the cells was only temporary. The inmate who complained the most was Buonomo, the famous Italian mobster. He was losing heart in the prison … it was hard to believe.


Eventually the permitted hour of sunlight turned into three. Capitan Toledo was a decent human being and he helped them out that day. When the recess was over, he sent them back to their cells. They almost didn’t lock up Buonomo. He suffered a panic attack and was on the verge of being beaten by the guards for refusing to return to his cell. He threatened to call the Italian Embassy to denounce them for violating his rights. The guards only laughed in his face.


The clock read 6:30 p.m. To the prisoners’ surprise, the guards came back and began to open the cell doors. The prisoners were moved to Ward 6. Popeye was sure they weren’t going to take him. Even so, he felt happy for his fellow inmates. But one of the guards, in his loud voice, gave him the good news:


“Popeye! To general population … ”


He was taken to cell number 065, but he was put there with the worst partner of all: the mobster Buonomo. He wasn’t such a bad guy, but he moaned and groaned about everything: the blanket was red, the cell was unpainted, it was cold, the light was bad, the mattress was hard, and on, and on. It was actually funny to hear him curse in his bad Spanish with his Italian accent.


The prison wasn’t really that ugly. It was solidly built and turned out to be quite functional. It was perfect for Jhon Jairo. There were two cement bunk beds built into the wall, each with steps to reach them. He was the one in his own country and fought the Italian for the lower slab, much more comfortable than the one above, also much less dangerous. The one above didn’t have railings and if you rolled over while sleeping, you could easily end up on the floor.


A twenty-three-inch-wide and sixteen-inch-high window guaranteed the cell good ventilation. At the end of the cell there was a counter with a sink, a space for washing clothes, a faucet, and, off to the side, the toilet. All this in a space sixteen feet long and ten feet wide. The metal door had a little twelve-inch by-eight-inch window with three bars. Popeye’s cell was on the third floor. The ward was big, housing 102 cells for 204 inmates. A week after his arrival, now installed in general population, the prisoners woke up for the first time in their own cells. It had been many years since Popeye had been assigned a fixed cell and even longer since he’d shared one with a partner.


They opened the cells at 5:30 a.m. with the command, “Everyone to the showers!” Unlike in their previous cells, the showers in Ward 6 were at the back end of each floor. The icy water of the showers helps you forget the cold. The shower is oddly comforting. There’s no privacy. Naked, the prisoners had to take turns in pairs using each shower. One could soap himself up while the other rinsed himself down. They had fifteen minutes, though many men wouldn’t take showers because of the intense cold. This, however, was a big mistake because afterwards they would feel even colder. Popeye would run naked down the long corridor to his cell, drying off quickly. He’d throw on his uniform and be ready to explore … that was his new goal.


The yard was spacious and well-adapted to walking. They were the pioneers in Cómbita and everything was new. The ward where they were first installed had three floors, with the showers at the end. On both sides of each corridor there were fifty-one cells. At the entrance to the yard, there were long tables where the prisoners ate. To one side was the mess hall where the prisoners were served the food prepared in the prison kitchen. The toilets were poorly located, right in front of the dining area. At the foot of the guard post, two uniformed guards in charge of keeping an eye on the prisoners stood at the lookout to monitor the entire yard. The inmates’ treasure and life line, the telephone, was near the guard post and to one side of the yard stood the prisoners’ window to the world: the TV. This was the extent of his surroundings.


That first week in Cómbita, breaking in the new prison, the inmates were happy so to speak, despite their detention and transfer. They were all thinking the same thing: it could have been worse. They’d been expecting a more terrifying place. Buonomo, however, didn’t share that opinion. He didn’t like anything anywhere.


The yard came alive. Some of the prisoners had wrapped themselves in their blankets and were walking around to warm themselves up. Others went to the end of the yard. It was a form of physical and mental exercise.


Popeye looked around and didn’t see the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers anywhere. This worried him since it was clear they were fighting for a good spot in Cómbita, far away from him.


When the guards arrived, they told the prisoners to stand in line for the head count. There were fifty-four prisoners in total. The guards left the yard and Pope took control as he was accustomed to doing to prevent anyone else from establishing his rule over the group. Popeye came forward and spoke with strength and ownership to his peers, “Gentleman, I’m taking control of the yard to prevent other unscrupulous people from moving in and doing so for their own personal benefit.”


All the prisoners backed him. He organized shifts to use the telephone, bathroom, and everything else. For him, Cómbita was a paradise compared to the hellhole of Valledupar. The cold was manageable, there were no pesky insects, he slept peacefully at night, and even the air was pure and healthy. He felt calm. He’d gone through the hardest part: breaking in the new prison. He was no longer in solitary confinement and now had control over the yard. His life was moving along in perfect divine order until his enemies arrived. The Rodríguez Orejuela brothers were losing their fight. A final order had been given to bring them to the yards with the general population. INPEC ordered that all prisoners be treated equally and that none be given special privileges.


Hearing the news, Popeye spoke to his fellow inmates, “My friends, today the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers are coming to this yard. They’re our natural leaders and as soon as they arrive, I’ll pass control of the yard to them.”


All criminals know the rules of the Colombian underworld. Whether outside in the regular world or in prison, the chain of command had to be respected. All the prisoners understood this, except the Italian, Buonomo, who shouted: “Hey, Pope, you gotta be crazy!”


Everyone laughed, understanding the situation and seeing the man’s blind spot.


It was clear: no one believed the powerful mafia bosses would be admitted to the ward. In Colombia, they thought this couldn’t happen, given the power these men wielded in the country at that time, around 2003.


Pope spent the day resolving problems in the yard, little things for the most part. The most complicated of these issues were the guards. Their arrogance knew no bounds. By the end of the afternoon though, he had managed to get them to speak with him.


If any of the prisoners dried a towel on the bars protecting the corridor, the guards meted out punishment by turning off the TV from the surveillance room. Much worse, though, was that sometimes the guards suspended the yard’s telephone service as payback for disorderly behavior. Pope tried to manage the situation until the Rodríguez brothers came. At that point, he would pass control over to them. They were the heads of the mafia and the guards weren’t stupid enough to mess with them, least of all over petty domestic matters. Popeye had to handle the situation wisely, since Aranguren, the director, knew he had control of the yard and if he abused his power, the director would send him to solitary confinement.


Early in the afternoon, after another count, the Rodríguez brothers still hadn’t arrived. Buonomo openly mocked Popeye, who prudently kept his mouth shut.


Around 7:20 p.m., the clanging of bars mingled with murmuring voices. The mighty Rodríguez Orejuela brothers were being brought into the yard, but they weren’t alone. They were followed by twenty heavy-weight mobsters, with long faces, who’d been with the brothers in Palmira Prison.


The Italian Buonomo burst out laughing and said ominously, “Popeye, they’re gonna extradite these old guys!” Buonomo hated the brothers for helping to kill his friend, Pablo Escobar.


The khaki uniform with orange stripes made all the incoming mobsters look insignificant. Popeye knew the last thing the Rodríguez brothers had asked the director was to have him removed from the yard. Aranguren repeatedly refused. From that moment on, Popeye started to like the director, because, as wise elders used to say, “If the guard dog bites everyone, it’s a good dog.”


What a day! Popeye was glad to see the Cali cartel kingpins in the yard with him. It’d be good for everybody. But the joy didn’t last long. He’d momentarily forgotten about his roommate. Sharing a cell with someone is uncomfortable, especially when it came time to use the toilet. There’s no privacy. Buonomo, his roommate, whined the hitman always went to the bathroom at dawn. He couldn’t explain how Popeye could sit on the “throne” at the same time every day. Half asleep, Buonomo would angrily yell at him, but it always made Popeye chuckle because of the way he spit out the words, “Hey, man, d’ya have a clock on your butt or what?!”


The lights switched on, the doors automatically opened, and right away you could hear the running water from the showers. As Buonomo kept on insulting him for not letting him sleep more, that day, however, was special for Popeye. It was the first time the Rodríguez brothers would wake up in a real high security ward and Popeye didn’t want to miss out on the show.


As soon as the cell doors swung open, he walked out fully dressed. He didn’t bathe today and instead went straight over to get a front-row view of the Rodríguez brothers bustling off to the communal shower just like any other inmate. He mischievously stopped and stood in a good spot and saw Don Gilberto in a towel. The showers are open, with only a thin wall dividing one stall from another. There was the old man, taking a freezing cold shower without any privacy. The pampered boy of Palmira Prison and La Picota, both run by the former INPEC, was now taking a shower in a real high security prison just like any other prisoner … There, naked and helpless, it was evident the years had weighed on him.


Later, when the showers were almost empty, Don Miguel appeared. He was in better shape than his brother and was also better “equipped.” There was a reason he had so many girlfriends! He was almost left covered in soap as the water was shut of promptly after fifteen minutes. When the old man saw the water dwindling to a trickle, he got angry and starting cursing the shower coming to a premature end. “What’s happening to the water? What a shit-hole of a bathroom!”


That day Pope thoroughly enjoyed his walk … his proud enemies where reduced to suffering the same privations that he was. It didn’t matter they’d won the cartel war. Now they stood on the same ground. 


When he finished watching the shower spectacle, Pope went over to greet his old friend Víctor Patiño Fómeque, another newcomer to the yard. Patiño was glad to see him and spoke to him warmly. Meanwhile, the Rodríguez brothers were assigned to the first floor. Strategically, Pope went to greet them. He was received with diplomacy. They detested him and he knew it, but The Art of War more or less says: “if you can’t beat ‘em, join ‘em.” That’s what the three men were forced to do, since in one way or another, under present circumstances they had to be allies in order to survive.


Pope knew the Rodríguez brothers were sufficiently powerful and wealthy to poke holes in the Cómbita system. What stopped them from being able to take over Cómbita Prison altogether was INPEC’s American supervisor, Jerry of the Prison Bureau. Both Aranguren, the prison director, and the new INPEC general director were retired majors from the police force. The key figures in the new INPEC all had a completely different mentality from that of the former leaders.


Because the Rodríguez brothers had been complaining about Popeye’s control of the yard, Pope shrewdly made sure he spoke to them in front of all of his fellow prisoners, ceding control of the yard to them whenever they wanted it. He did it that very day after the head count. No more and no less than Pablo Escobar’s private secretary and fearsome Medellin cartel hitman was coming forward and publicly turning control of the yard over to the Rodríguez brothers. The brothers thanked him and Don Miguel, like a seasoned politician, made a speech promising improvements. Pope was assigned control of the telephone. Brothers in disgrace, from that moment on they were ready to fight the cold and face every day in the new prison together.


Although it sounds simple, managing the telephone was a serious endeavor. There were ninety-eight inmates in the yard and just one phone. Call turns had to be scheduled from 6:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. There were 660 available minutes per day, giving each prisoner six minutes to talk. There were many prisoners who didn’t need to call anyone and they could sell their six daily minutes to the Rodríguez brothers or to other drug traffickers who had enough money to buy them. The rate for these valuable minutes amounted to 200 dollars a month. Despite the fact the prisoners were breaking in a brand-new prison and were being monitored under the new anti-corruption prison regime, money can buy anything in Colombia … 


Don Gilberto reluctantly kept to his call time. Don Miguel was another story. He would use up his minutes, the minutes he bought, and the minutes of the other inmates. He would stay glued to the telephone for hours talking with his wife, girlfriends, and other women as well. Nobody dared say anything to him. He was the chief and the others had to put up with whatever he did.


Pope, a hot coffee in his hand and with his native smarts, would discretely convince Don Miguel to give up the phone to avoid making things worse for their fellow prisoners. The prisoner who Don Miguel would never let down was Doctor Viejito. He always respected his turn and would send Pope to bring the old man to the phone and dial the numbers for him since the Doctor couldn’t even see the phone. The old man would call his family every day and would cheerfully tell them all about his life behind bars with the heads of the Cali cartel.


As a result of these experiences and his time living alongside the Rodríguez brothers, Pope ended up looking up to them with respect. The gold Cartier glasses on their faces were the only remaining physical traces of their wealth. Pope began to understand their struggle. In the end, all human beings fight for survival with the weapons they were given at birth and, in prison, each person struggles to get through another day. It’s neither good nor bad; it’s just survival. That’s the way Pope looked at it in order to stay alive in Cómbita, where every man had a story about his past.









III

Murder Plot in Cómbita


Félix Antonio Chitiva, alias La Mica, was a drug trafficker who worked for Pablo Escobar as a runner in the cocaine trade. He participated in the Medellin cartel’s 1989 Avianca airplane bombing by planting a bomb targeting then presidential candidate César Gaviria Trujillo, who wasn’t on the flight. Later, Chitiva joined the Pepes, teaming up with Carlos Castaño to go after his former boss, Pablo Escobar Gaviria.


At that time he was already collaborating as an informant with the DEA. Working with other drug traffickers, while he was betraying them at the same time, he was captured and taken to prison with an extradition request. That’s how he ended up in Palmira Prison and then in Cómbita. He had betrayed Los Mellizos or The Twins and they put a price on his head: 2 million dollars. He knew this and lived in constant terror waiting for the DEA to give him the protection he’d been promised. In Palmira the Rodríguez brothers had looked out for him, but they couldn’t protect him in Cómbita, where leaving him alone meant putting his life in danger. He didn’t trust Popeye. He knew he was a reckless hitman and nothing prevented him from killing him at any moment. He didn’t take his eyes off of Popeye. Chitiva had the feeling that something strange was happening around him. There were the suspicious attitudes of some of the other inmates, as well as the bizarre visit of El Zarco or The Blond, a prisoner being kept in another ward who had been involved in the murder by hanging of Fedor, the guerrilla fighter behind the infamous Tacueyó Massacre. That’s why when he saw one of the prison guards whispering with El Zarco, Chitiva got scared and put his guard up. However, he wasn’t the only one in the yard that noticed what was happening. Popeye also saw something was going on. He’d been watching the encounter and decided to ask El Zarco directly what was up. This way, Pope would play it safe in the event that a murder was going to go down in the yard, that he was the one they were going to frame, or even worse, that he was the target.


“What are you up to, you big son of a bitch?!” He growled at the man, forcefully grabbing him by the arm and pushing him toward the corner of the yard. Taken aback, the man opened his eyes wide and, scared and stuttering, denied he was planning anything. “No, nooo, Popeye … you’ve got it all wrong, it’s not for you …  it’s … for La Mica!”


“Yeah, sure … pal, I’m really sharp and if I see anything suspicious I’m gonna be really pissed … I’m not gonna let anybody kill me so easily … don’t forget the Rodríguez brothers are watching.”


The man quickly walked away and wild-eyed and afraid, he turned around to look back at Popeye. He knew what was waiting for him if he meddled with Popeye. He could feel behind his back the cold and fierce gaze of a killer on alert.


A few days later, another group of narcos from Medellin were brought to the yard. They told everybody that Carlos Castaño had given them up. They kept cussing him out, saying, snitch, son of a bitch! When they saw him on TV they spat out expletive after expletive.


The subject of La Mica was spinning around in Popeye’s head. He didn’t know whether to believe the money being offered was really for La Mica’s life or his own. Outside, his enemies grew stronger by the day, and, in any case, he didn’t trust anybody. That’s the first rule of survival in life and even more so in prison.


Quietly he began to make enquiries through the right people and found out the group planning La Mica’s hit was large and the operation was well-planned. Two million dollars to whack him was an attractive prize. El Zarco confirmed this days later when Popeye used his own methods to extract information from him. A prison guard had been assigned the responsibility of smuggling the 7.65 pistol with an extra cartridge through to the prison kitchen where he’d give it to an inmate working in that area. Another guard would then take it to Ward 6 and deliver it via a small window in the mess hall were the food was served. The weapon would eventually end up in the hands of the murderer. The whole plan was being put together from outside the prison with thousands of dollars.


El Zarco had to receive the gun and enter the bathroom where he would make sure the weapon was loaded. Then, he’d go out, find La Mica in the yard, and shoot him. After the shooting, he’d corner all the other inmates, threatening to shoot them all too Finally, he’d throw the gun to the ground, raise his hands and give himself up to the guards. It was all coldly calculated. El Zarco had nothing to lose. He was sentenced to forty years in prison and had another pending murder trial. Another one wouldn’t make much of a difference to him one way or another.


Sensing the danger he was in, La Mica was always jumpy in the yard. He was suspicious of everyone. He waited until 5:00 a.m., when the other prisoners were taking their showers, to go and talk on the phone. That way, Popeye wouldn’t hear him. In charge of managing telephone time and distributing the six minutes each inmate had to make calls, Popeye always inadvertently heard the other prisoners’ conversations.


The day came for La Mica to die. El Zarco was ready. He already had part of the money in his possession. That was what delayed the operation the most. It was a serious crime and he was going to be isolated in solitary confinement for at least sixty days. He needed to be sure he wasn’t going to be dumped. A large sum of money would be enough to support him and his family; he couldn’t leave them helpless. A third party had passed him 250 thousand dollars in cash. The remaining balance of the two million would be paid once La Mica was whacked. At breakfast, Cómbita Prison in Boyacá was going to lose its aura of purity with the first murder perpetrated within its sanctified walls.


The day before passed with an air of mystery. Waiting for a crime like this to go down involves a degree of morbidity, evil, and passion for the unknown. Adrenaline was running high. Pope knew something was up, but at this moment he still didn’t have any details, only his doubts. His killer’s instinct had never let him down before and that day he didn’t feel like he was the one who was going to end up a stiff, but, even so, he tried to prepare himself just in case. After all, you only die once.


What would happen once La Mica was dead? Popeye mused while he was getting dressed.


And what would happen if he turned out to be the target and El Zarco had lied to him? He’d never know because by that time he’d already have gone straight to hell and his enemies would be celebrating.


When it came time for the head count, La Mica stuck very close to Don Miguel Rodríguez. Popeye stared firmly at him, thinking it was going to be the last time. He sensed that one of the two would soon be dead. He didn’t know what day it would happen but he knew it would be soon. The recent movements of El Zarco and the guards had made it clear.


After the count, the prisoners were all sent to sleep. The days passed with the same routine. But on the day supposedly chosen for the crime, nothing was going to happen, or so it seemed.


At about 6:40 p.m., bars clanged. From his cell, Popeye watched with surprise as Félix Antonio Chitiva, alias La Mica, was escorted out of the yard to be taken to Bogota. The police were protecting him. The next day he would be flown to the United States in DEA custody. Pope was stunned to see him leave. That night he couldn’t sleep. His mind kept going over the situation again and again, realizing that since they couldn’t kill La Mica, he’d be the next target. He needed to be clever to avoid being killed so foolishly.


As the new day dawned, Popeye hurried through his shower, delegated control of the telephone to another prisoner, and made a beeline for El Zarco to provoke him. El Zarco didn’t react at all and instead kept walking. Pope remained tense and kept a close eye on him. If the hit was meant for him, he had located the killer and wasn’t about to be caught by surprise.


Breakfast was delivered to the prisoners more quickly than usual. As soon as the inmates who handed out meals arrived, El Zarco went to talk to the guard who was carrying the gun. The man said something to him under his breath. Popeye didn’t take his eyes off them. The guard showed El Zarco a gun and then hid it again. It’s customary in the underworld to make the participation of every person hired for a job clear so that each individual collects the money owed to him, even if the crime isn’t carried out, since it’s not the participants’ fault; everyone in the chain will collect his share of the money anyway. So the guard made it clear he fulfilled his part of the bargain by showing the gun in the yard.


El Zarco had to give back 200 thousand dollars and was able to keep the rest as a thank you for trying. He earned a cool 50 thousand dollars as a token for his trouble. Aside from that, the guys who ordered the hit on La Mica had to pay the guards 100 thousand dollars for smuggling the gun into Cómbita Prison.


La Mica was extradited to the United States. The time he served there was short and sweet and in 2009 he was released. Popeye found out everything when he was finally able to grab El Zarco by the neck and force him to spill the beans on the thwarted murder attempt. Even so, he was never able to be completely trustful because they could always sell him out and collect the money his enemies might put on his head.









IV

Living with the Rodríguez Orejuela Brothers


Life in the prison yard became routine. Don Miguel began to chip away at the rigid prison regime. He had a small transistor radio smuggled into the prison. At night Pope’s job was to safeguard it, but he took advantage of the opportunity to listen to music and news. Don Gilberto didn’t take many risks since he was close to being released. The relationship between Popeye and the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers improved dramatically.


A small shop was opened in the prison, bringing a real improvement in the food. In Cómbita the prisoners weren’t allowed to have cash. Their families could deposit money into a bank account to purchase products inside the prison. A civilian ran the shop. Don Miguel asked him to have cold cuts and sweets brought into the prison. Gradually, the astute Miguel Rodríguez was eating away at the prison regime. However, it was only a matter of time before problems started to emerge. Prisoners could have visits every fifteen days alternating between women and men. Conjugal visits were allowed every forty-five days for one hour. Each inmate was allowed to present the name of only one woman he wanted to register for the conjugal visit. This created problems for some of the men who had multiple women and wanted to spend time with each of them, but prison regulations permitted only one authorized “spouse.”


Accustomed to being able to receive visits from family, friends, and lawyers any day of the week between 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m., the heads of the Cali cartel were unhappy about Cómbita’s strict rules and had to follow them like any ordinary thief, entitled to a restricted number of visits. But the real problem arose when it came to the visits of their women, who were used to being treated like princesses under the former INPEC regime. They’d been untouchable. All the wives, girlfriends, sisters, and daughters of the capos used to waltz into the prisons where the brothers were being held without so much as a glance from the guards. Cómbita was a shock. Every time their women came to the prison, special treatment, let alone respect were pipedreams. The guards in charge of inspecting female visitors were tough fearless women whose hands never trembled when they patted down the Rodríguez brothers’ women or the women of any other narco. With no courtesy whatsoever, they would brusquely feel around their breasts as they searched for any illicit contraband. The female visitors had to remove their shoes and instead don a simple pair of plastic sandals. They had to wear their hair down and weren’t allowed in with any jewelry, not even a cheap watch. Most delicate of all, the female visitors had to let the guards perform an intimate search, lifting their dresses and exposing their derrières just like any other visitor under the cold contemptuous gaze of the female guard who impatiently opened and closed her rough latex-covered hands, ready to perform the vaginal examination. No female visitor to Cómbita Prison could escape this, no matter how powerful her man was.


The visitation area was set apart from the wards. One day Popeye didn’t go for a family visit. Eighty-five of his fellow prisoners did, however, and came back furious at the prisons guards for the abuses their women had to endure. The women’s just complaints about the guards’ excesses riled up the inmates, who decided to organize the first prisoners’ strike in Cómbita in protest. The prisoners refused to let the guards count them and to return to their cells. In retaliation, the guards in the yard shut off the TV and disconnected the telephone.


Faced with the prisoners’ anger, the prison director and the captain of the guards went to the yard to negotiate. Prior to that day, the prisoners’ women hadn’t said anything about their treatment, hoping to prevent their men from getting into trouble with the guards. Each prisoner was capable of getting himself killed for his family or for his women. The situation was spinning out of control as the prison management tried to justify the physical inspections of female visitors, denying the use of vaginal exams.


“It’s not true that young girls are being touched during searches and it’s certainly not true they’re being given vaginal exams! It’s only performed on adult women and the hands only go to the base of the breasts to make sure nothing is being hidden. Their breasts are never touched. Only their gowns are raised to pass the metal detector over their underwear. If the detector beeps only then is the woman taken aside to a private room where a vaginal exam is conducted using latex gloves,” the director nervously explained as he faced down the enraged gazes of the chiefs of the Cali cartel and eighty other inmates. Disgruntled, the prisoners were making all sorts of assumptions since menstruating women weren’t being allowed in a violation of women’s rights.


The Rodríguez brothers argued it was impossible for a woman to smuggle a weapon, drug, or grenade fragment in their vaginas, but other women had been caught in the act in other prisons such as La Modelo, as the director had alluded to and as the press had exposed. That’s why adult women were being subjected to the intrusive exam. The outrage of the inmates, led by Miguel and Gilberto Rodríguez Orejuela, targeted the two officials with all sorts of recriminations.


The Rodríguez Orejuela brothers had always lived in a bubble. The reality of prison life had never touched them before and, evidently, had never touched their families either. The heated discussion came to an end when Director Aranguren and Captain Toledo assured the prisoners the Americans had promised to send a special metal-detecting chair from the United States, so the women wouldn’t have to show their underwear anymore. They also said drug-sniffing dogs were on the way to be used to check visitors.


All of this embittered the lives of the mafia heads and the other prisoners alike. Don Miguel Rodríguez complained so vociferously about these and other extreme restrictions in the prison that the news reached the media. The press embarked upon an in-depth investigation, prompting INPEC director General Cifuentes to pay a personal visit to the prison. In fact, he came to spend the night there, in Ward 5.


The next day, visibly enthused, he called a press conference. In front of a line of TV cameras he proudly announced:


“In Cómbita the environment is great. It’s a paradise.”


The Rodríguez Orejuela brothers and the other prisoners watched his press conference on TV in boiling rage. They hurled all kinds of insults at the official and his insolence. According to them, he was trying to “blot out the sun with a finger,” turning a blind eye to the reality in Cómbita, but what bothered them the most was they couldn’t get to General Cifuentes to corrupt him.


The protest was not in vain, however. Days later and after a good deal of continuous pressure from the Rodríguez brothers and their lawyers, the INPEC director authorized the use of colored sweatshirts to protect against the cold. From that point on, the Rodríguez brothers stood out even more in prison. Their brand-name sweatshirts gave them an air of exclusivity and set them apart from the other inmates in the yard. They were also authorized to wear sneakers, but without laces, and best of all, they were allowed to have thermal blankets. Popeye felt it was a nice touch to have a colorful sweatshirt to mask his ugly prison uniform. The brand-name sneakers he managed to smuggle into the prison were terrific and his cell came alive with the arrival of a beautiful colorful quilt, sent by his girlfriend from Bogota. The bedcover contrasted sharply with the cell’s cold grey cement walls. Two feather pillows and a white fitted sheet completed his prison set. It was a pleasure to sleep in a clean and well-appointed room. Enjoying the simple things in life in those days, Popeye thought about how considerate his new lover was; she was attentive to every detail to make his confinement more tolerable.


Popeye had always had good luck with women and been fortunate in matters of the heart, even though he had to kill the only woman he ever loved deeply. While in prison, he enjoyed passing relationships with a lot of women. Some of them, steady and faithful, had followed and stayed with him as he went from one prison to another, serving out his sentence.


When he was in Bogota’s La Modelo Prison, he never went long without getting a visit from a beauty queen or a model. One of them was a spectacular black woman from Medellin who had begun her career on the catwalk. He fondly called her his bulto de carbon, his “nugget of coal.” She moved like a gazelle, walking with confidence and grace.


Revealing her perfect teeth, she’d laugh at everything and everyone. She had a very natural outlook on life and believed in enjoying every moment of it. Sometimes, she’d spend the night with him in prison. A beautiful woman both inside and out, she filled the hitman’s prison nights with energy, joy, and eroticism. He didn’t sleep when he was with his bulto de carbon. Passionate and creative, she was always full of surprises, like the lingerie she wore on her spectacular body. She amused him with sex toys and lotions brought from abroad by her friends. Proud of his eternal nights of pleasure, the next day he always got a kick out of parading her around the prison yard, where the other inmates would stare at his dark-beauty with envy.


His girlfriend kept visiting him for months until one day out of the blue she announced she wouldn’t be back to see him again. She was moving to Europe to pursue her dreams. Popeye felt sad for a while afterwards for he’d gotten used to his fun-loving woman. But as all things in life are fleeting, soon an aspiring beauty queen from Meta helped him forget his bulto de carbon, who continued to send him magazines and photos from Spain of all of the beautiful places she visited.


By the time he was in Cómbita, Popeye had hooked up with a wonderful woman who taught him to look at life differently, to think of forgiveness. With love and devotion she cared for him for two years, never missing a conjugal visit. He truly loved her and devoted as much time and attention as possible to her, given the circumstances. She had a child from a previous marriage and was a cultivated professional woman. In the end, however, she got scared of being with Popeye and the romance came to an end, leaving him alone with his memories and his colorful quilt.


Popeye had to take life as it came. For security reasons, he had no time to think about the future and instead had to focus on one day at a time, keeping an eye on his back every step of the way. He knew at any moment he could be stabbed in the back and it would be the end. His luck improved greatly when he won an important prize: being appointed “yard servant.” His job: cleaning up the yard every day, all by himself. It was actually hard work, but it slashed his sentence in half by earning him a six-month reduction for every year of his conviction. This was a huge plus given the complexity of his case. When he surrendered himself to Colombia’s justice system as a member of the Medellin cartel, all his crimes were accumulated and he was sentenced to twenty-seven years in prison, eleven of which he had already served. One day, however, a new case appeared: drug-trafficking to the Netherlands. According to the authorities, he was running an international cocaine-trafficking network from inside prison. Popeye was stunned by the indictment. He tenaciously defended himself and the case went to trial. He insisted on his innocence and argued it was a set up by the authorities. As the case dragged on, life in Cómbita continued to follow its course.


There, the head of the Cali cartel, Gilberto Rodríguez Orejuela, had already adapted to the circumstances. The mobster was cunning and knew how to use the situation to his advantage. He was a model prisoner. While in the pen, he studied and graduated in Philosophy. He seemed unusually calm and, after a while, the other prisoners found out why. The news hit the media like a bomb:


“In a matter of hours Gilberto Rodríguez Orejuela will be released from prison!”


Everyone throughout the country and around the world, and of course inside the prison, was speechless.


The DEA, the Colombian government, and the American Embassy were put on alert. The Minister of the Interior and of Justice, Fernando Londoño, came out strongly against it, openly declaring he wouldn’t release Rodríguez under any circumstances and accusing the judge who had issued the release order of bias, having been an attorney for Rodríguez in the past. Coolly calculating, the don didn’t miss a step. He had his legal battalion ready to attack. In the Cómbita prison yard, the telephone was at the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers’ disposal and that day no one else could make any calls. The news media broadcast non-stop special reports about the case. The country was in suspense watching this wild soap opera. The prison itself was paralyzed. Popeye went to talk to his cellmate, Italian mobster Buonomo.


“Hey, marica! Weren’t they gonna be extradited?” Popeye asked, as if he had anything to do with what was happening. Buonomo laughed and replied mockingly:


“Popay … They gonna be extradited! I’ma tellin’ you … ”


When he got wind of the news, old Gilberto Rodríguez grew nervous. He asked for water and took some pills to calm down. He looked pale. Earlier, he’d already taken an extra-strong dose of his hypertension medication. The media scandal escalated by the minute. Some questioned whether the well-known drug trafficker was going to be released without serving his full sentence. Around 4:30 p.m., a special news broadcast came on and everyone crowded around the TV to watch in silence. Their faces lined with worry, Don Miguel and Don Gilberto were standing in front of the screen holding their breath, waiting for good news.


It’s a fact: “Gilberto Rodríguez is a free man … !”


Don Miguel threw his arms around his brother and gave him a seemingly endless hug as they both jumped around for joy.


The phone calls to their relatives didn’t wait. Both Don Miguel and his brother spent the rest of the day glued to the phone. When they came back into the yard, silence reigned. Suddenly, a dry sound could be heard. Soft at first, then growing louder, all the inmates began to clap in unison in what became ecstatic applause, accompanied by cheers for the chief of the Cali cartel who was in full celebration. Even Popeye found himself loudly applauding his former enemy from the old drug wars. Some ninety-five other inmates celebrated Don Gilberto Rodríguez Orejuela’s release. This unexpected show of solidarity with the famous narco was observed from afar by one man who, alone and with utter dignity, declined to participate in the jubilee with the mobster. He was the only one who preserved his honor while applause echoed, stirring up the adrenaline of the other inmates. The mysterious man looked at them with scorn, observing the face of every prisoner from a safe distance as he shook his head from side to side in bitter contempt. That man was Buonomo, a drug trafficker and former friend of Pablo Escobar, the head of the Medellin cartel, who was waiting for his indictment to be extradited to the United States. He was wanted by the DEA for drug trafficking. That day no one was paying attention to the Italian. Everyone was concentrating on Gilberto Rodríguez, who was ready to leave. One prisoner had collected his belongings in a trash bag and he had already vacated his cell. The others formed two lines, forming an honor guard for the don to pass through. He looked radiant. With a dignified bearing he marched down the corridor surrounded by the smiles and applause of the other prisoners who cheered for him as he passed by, as if he were king. The mobster raised his chin and arrogantly left the yard. He was a winner.


“Viva! Long live Don Gilberto!”


“Long live, long live! … ”


The cheer came from a voice known all too well to Buonomo, who directed his glare, loaded with recrimination, at Popeye. For him, recognizing Popeye’s voice in the crowd felt like a betrayal of his friend, Pablo Escobar. Lost in all the commotion spilling out into the yard, Popeye looked at old man Rodríguez, who now looked beaming and fulfilled, as he went on his way to be reunited with the world. Pope burst out laughing, surely thinking more at that moment about the joy such an event would mean for anyone who yearned to regain his freedom than about the fact the man in question was his former nemesis.


Before exiting the prison yard gate, Don Gilberto took a few moments to give one last hug to his brother Miguel, who looked a bit shell-shocked despite the joyous news. The gate was quickly swung open for the powerful cartel boss, visibly emotional, anticipating the proximity of being reunited with his family and friends. Dozens of eyes from within the prison continued to follow him, some with envy, others with humility. At the very last moment, however, when the final gate was about to be opened for Don Gilberto, Corporal Areila arrived to put an abrupt halt to the celebration.


Timidly, the corporal led Don Gilberto Rodríguez to an external room and informed him he had to wait for his boss’s order via radio before he could pass him through to the review area and then to the doctor before his release. Outside, Don Gilberto’s bodyguards, as well as two of his sons were waiting for him, accompanied by his lawyers and a swarm of anxious reporters.


At 5:00 p.m. it came time for the count. Everyone in line. The yard door burst open and the eyes of the prisoners fell on Don Gilberto. No one knew what was happening.


He was back in the yard with a dark scowl on his face, his black trash bag in hand. The guard brought him back into the yard for the count. Out of respect for the difficult moment, no one said a word. It was obvious Don Gilberto wasn’t going anywhere so easily. The government would make his life bitter up to the very end. His head hanging low, his arms clutching the trash bag, the old man looked crushed. He wouldn’t let go of his belongings even for a second. All the prisoners returned to their cells, leaving only the janitors in the yard.


Don Miguel was heartbroken to see his brother there and tried to put up a fight to prevent him from being taken back to his old cell. The situation was tense. Evidently the government was planning something to prevent the departure of Don Gilberto, who meanwhile stood between the guard and Don Miguel. He calmed him down and returned to his cell. The guard said it would only be for half an hour while they were waiting to receive the written order for his release. Then he would be a free man.


A poor devil who was cleaning the yard with Popeye humbly said to Don Gilberto, “Señor, congratulations, I hope everything goes well.”


Suddenly the powerful mobster lost it and wildly began screaming, “Noooo …, nooooo … ! Cut it out! Quit saying goodbye!”


His face was red with anger and he went right back into his cell. The poor janitor stood there with his mouth half open. He didn’t expect that. Shamefacedly, he looked up at Popeye, who motioned to the man not to pay any attention and suggested instead that they continue to clean the yard.


Popeye went to get his broom and got to work sweeping the sprawling yard, looking out of the corner of his eye toward Don Gilberto’s cell. That day he felt like he’d never finish cleaning up the yard. With no inmates around, the space looked even more immense. Some 130 by 100 feet and open to the sky, it was his way of getting a wary glimpse at freedom, that same freedom so elusive to The Chess Player. He moved the broom back and forth, pushing the litter off the yard. His waist ached from hunching over while sweeping and he paused from time to time to massage his spine. Sweat ran down his chin, as he made a silent promise that he’d be more considerate to cleaning ladies once he got out. He took a deep breath and went back to work. He still had about sixty-five feet left to clean when Don Gilberto called him.


“Hey, Popeye! C’mon over here, please.”


He dropped the broom and quickly trotted over to the old man’s cell. Don Gilberto asked him to use the yard phone to call his sons’ cellphone. They were still waiting for him outside the entrance to Cómbita. Don Gilberto sent them a clear message: “Don’t leave the prison. If I’m not released tonight, have the lawyers bring a petition for a writ of habeas corpus.”


Don Gilberto offered Popeye a telephone card but the hitman politely refused. He had his own. Don Gilberto jotted down the number on a piece of paper. As he dialed the number, a thought ran through his mind, “Now I’m helping one of my worst enemies in his worst moment of need … These are the twists and turns that life takes!” He hurried off to fulfill the don’s request.


On the other side of the line, a man answered the phone on the first ring.


“Good evening sir, this is Popeye speaking from inside Cómbita Prison on behalf of Don Gilberto. Please do not leave since he still hasn’t been released. He says if he isn’t let out tonight, please have the lawyers bring a habeas corpus petition.”


The man thanked him kindly, asking him how his father was holding up. Popeye simply said he was fine and ended the call. After giving the message to Don Gilberto he went back to work. He still had to mop the yard before he could go back to his cell and get some rest.


He knew his roommate Buonomo was still awake, waiting for him to give him a hard time. Thinking of his Italian friend made Popeye smile; even though he was a damn pain, he seemed funnier than he was annoying … until he heard him cursing.


“Son of a bitch … I saw you … I saw you … I saw you clappin’ and cheerin’ for Gilberto!”


Jhon Jairo just laughed, ignoring him. He was exhausted from cleaning the yard and just wanted to relax and not think about anything else, at least for the night. But the Italian wasn’t willing to let it go. He stood there right behind him, insulting him. As Popeye undressed in the cell’s cramped space, he continued laughing hard at Buonomo’s taunts.


“Popeye, Popeye … you’s a fake … I saw you … I saw you … you goddam fake … I saw you!”


At eight o’clock the prison lights were turned off as usual. This seemed to be a bad sign for Don Gilberto. It was after 9:30 p.m. when the gate was opened. Popeye immediately jumped out of bed to peer out the cell’s little window. A group of guards had gone to Don Gilberto’s cell. A few minutes later, he was taken out, looking serious and still clutching his trash bag. Life’s an unfair son-of-a-bitch: the old man had power and luck. He’d only served seven years in prison for his life of crime. From his little window Popeye watched the scene until the guards disappeared. Freedom had come to the old fox. Who knows if he had earned it? Popeye had to admit he was happy to see him go. He quietly crawled back into bed and went to sleep, trying to avoid waking up the irritating Italian.


At dawn the next day, Popeye showered and went to the telephone. Don Miguel Rodríguez was beaming, radiating joy from every pore. He had to stay behind because he’d tried to bribe a judge in a drug-trafficking case. In his calculations he only had fourteen more months of prison time left to serve, but in the DEA’s calculation he still had thirty years. Don Gilberto left Cómbita around midnight the night before. The TV showed him walking slowly, looking powerful and confident. At the age of fifty-six, he left his cell to return to his beautiful Cali, brimming with money and illusions, but stripped of political power. He looked a lot older than he was, now obese, slow-moving, his soul marked by the bitterness that prison leaves in a man, a sordid smile painted on his face.


The head of the Cali cartel and his brother had always been clever about covering up their criminal activities. To their families and society, they acted like powerful businessmen surrounded by an aura of respectability. They were owners of a bank in Panama as well as the Banco de los Trabajadores in Colombia, the Grupo Radial Colombiano, and La Rebaja discount drugstore chain with stores scattered all over the country. Beyond that, they owned laboratories that supplied pharmaceuticals to their stores. They also controlled security companies and were owners of Cali’s América de Cali football team along with other legitimate businesses acquired with money recycled from the cocaine trade.


When he left Cómbita Prison, Gilberto Rodríguez Orejuela once again eluded prison without having to fire a single shot. He began his criminal career as a kidnapper in the 1970s, becoming the leader of a criminal band known as Los Chemas, infamous for the kidnapping of two Swiss citizens. From there, they moved into the drug trade along with José Santacruz Londoño and Francisco Pacho Herrera, eventually becoming the powerful kingpins of the Cali cartel. Over the years they became enemies of Pablo Escobar, capo of the Medellin cartel. They worked on creating a paramilitary group, the Pepes, whose job was to track him down and eliminate him. After helping to orchestrate Escobar’s execution, the heads of the Cali cartel continued with both their mafia and legitimate business activities, giving all the support they could to corrupt politicians, to the extent they managed to get the man in their pocket elected the President of Colombia, triggering the famous 8000 Process. This was the judicial case against then president Ernesto Samper Pizano, accused of receiving drug-trafficking money to pay for his presidential campaign.


The DEA had their eyes on the Rodríguez Orejuela brothers, but were unable to extradite them since their crimes had been committed before 1997. Colombia’s 1991 Constitution prohibited extradition and was not changed until 1997 when it was amended. The extradition of Colombians to the United States began again after that.


Images of Gilberto Rodríguez Orejuela’s release circled the globe. However, he faced one small problem after his release. An active police colonel with twenty men, not on the cartel’s payroll, was waiting for Don Gilberto when he left the prison, ostensibly to give him protection … Hmmmm! The colonel and his men kindly escorted him to a house in Bogota and from there, at dawn, Gilberto Rodríguez headed to Bogota’s El Dorado Airport where he left on a flight to Cali, still accompanied by the colonel. In Cali, this escort continued. Meanwhile, the government fired the director of Cómbita prison, dismissing him like a dog, though in truth none of it was his fault. He was accused of being corrupt, though he really wasn’t, but they needed someone to take the fall.
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